RECEIVED

Dec 13 2023

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Berkeley County
Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Master-In-Equity
Civil Action No.: 2018-CP-08-344
Appellate Case No. 2023-000405

BCE 2015, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

YVONNE C. KNIGHT and ELEANOR C. BROWN,

Respondents.

***FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT,
BCE 2015, LLC***

Stephen P. Groves, Sr., Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 007854
BUTLER SNOW LLP
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 250
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
Telephone: 843.277.3704/Telecopier: 843.277.3701
E-Mail: Stephen.Groves@butlersnow.com

John J. Dodds, III, Esquire
S.C. Bar No.: 001707
CISA & DODDS

I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Concluded That BCE 2015, LLC Failed To Demonstrate That BCE 2015, LLC Was Entitled To An Implied Easement By Prior Use Across The Respondents' Property?
- B. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Concluded That BCE 2015, LLC Failed To Demonstrate That BCE 2015, LLC Was Entitled To An Easement By Prescription Across The Respondents' Property?
- C. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Concluded That BCE 2015, LLC Failed To Demonstrate That BCE 2015, LLC Was Entitled To An Easement By Necessity Across The Respondents' Property?
- D. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Denied Important And Material After-Discovered Evidence Offered By BCE 2015, LLC Which Did Not Exist As Of The Date Of The Trial?
- E. Whether The Master-In-Equity Incorrectly Denied BCE 2015, LLC's Post-Trial Motion Made Pursuant To Rules 52(b) and 59(e), SCRCivP?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 21 February 2018, the Appellant, BCE 2015, LLC (“BCE 2015”), brought a quiet title and establishment of ingress/egress easement action against the Respondents, Yvonne C. Knight, Eleanor C. Brown, and others (the “Landowners”). (R.p.4;R.pp.60, 61-64). BCE 2015 sought to confirm and/or establish a 50’ ingress/egress easement across the Landowners’ real property. (R.p.4; R.p.16; R.pp.63-64, paras. 10-11). The Landowners denied the material allegations. (R.p.67, paras.1, 3).¹ The parties, by consent, referred the matter to the Berkeley County Master-In-Equity. (R..p.48-51).²

The Master-In-Equity held a Bench Trial on 15 September 2022, taking testimony and receiving documentary evidence. (R.pp.90-285). By order dated 31 October 2022, the Master-In-Equity denied BCE 2015’s request to establish an ingress/egress easement. (R.pp.16-26). BCE 2015 moved for reconsideration, etc. (R.pp.70-81). The Master-In-Equity held a hearing on BCE 2015’s post-trial motions on 7 February 2023 (R.p.298), and denied the same by order dated 1 March 2023. (R.pp.1-3). The Master-In-Equity also issued an Amended Order also dated 1 March 2023. (R.pp.4-15).³ This appeal followed.

¹ The Circuit Court appointed a Guardian *ad Litem Nisi* on 27 January 2020. (R.pp.56-59). The GAL Nisi admitted, upon information and belief, BCE 2015’s material allegations. (R.pp.68-69). The Circuit Court also entered a Rule 55(a), SCRCivP, order of default on 28 January 2020. (R..p.52-55).

² The Master-In-Equity conducted a hearing on 15 December 2020 (R.pp.82-89), and, by order issued 17 December 2020, quieted title in the real property at issue in BCE 2015. (R.pp.27-47).

³ The Master-In-Equity did not specifically vacate the 31 October 2022, order or otherwise indicate the Amended Order was intended to replace the first order. (Amd. Order, pp.1-12).

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. The Landowners' And BCE 2015's Respective Properties

The Landowners' real estate is a 39-acre unimproved tract located adjacent to Old Cherry Hill Road in Berkeley County (the "Landowners' Property" or "Parcel 001").⁴ (R.p.101, line 18 – R.p.102, line 8; R.p.247, lines 12-17; R.p.261, lines 2-7; R.p.341). The Landowners acquired Parcel 001 via a Deed of Distribution from the Estate of their father, Edward Cooper, Jr. (R.p.159, lines 6-13; R.pp.341, 505-522).⁵ The Landowners also own a 21-acre unimproved tract ("Parcel 036") (Rp.247, lines 12-17),⁶ as well as a 15-acre unimproved tract ("Parcel 034") (R.p.247, lines 12-17),⁷ both of which also which came to them through the same Deed of Distribution. (R.pp.505-522).

On 16 November 2015, through a Berkeley County Delinquent Tax Sale (R.p.95, line 23 – R.p.96, line 4; R.pp.472-487), BCE 2015 purchased a 22-acre unimproved tract ("Parcel 038") adjoining the northern boundary of the Parcel 001.⁸ (R.p.95, line 23 – R.p.96, line 4; R.pp.472-487). BCE 2015 also owns the five-acre unimproved tract ("Parcel 039") located directly to the north of and adjoining Parcel 038.⁹ (R.p.96, lines 8-13; R.pp.472-487). Parcel 038 and Parcel 039 are landlocked. (R.p.103, line 19 –

⁴ TMS No. 123-00-02-001. (R.pp.341, 495). The property tracts herein generally contain acreage slightly more or less than a whole acreage number. In order to avoid confusion, whole numbers have been used unless otherwise contextually required.

⁵ See generally Berkeley County Probate Case No. 2008ES08-720, dated and recorded in the Register's Office on 8 April 2010, in Book 8396, Page 004, and then re-recorded 16 February 2011, in Book 8823, Page 099. (R.pp.369, 495).

⁶ See TMS No. 123-00-02-036. (R.p.341).

⁷ See TMS No. 123-00-02-034. (R.p.341).

⁸ See TMS No. 123-00-02-038. (Exh. 1).

⁹ See TMS No. 123-00-02-039. (Exh. 1).

R.p.104, line 3; R.p.255, lines 9-23; R.p.341).¹⁰ The sole reasonable means of vehicular access to Parcels 001, 034, 036, 038, and 039 is across a generally unimproved dirt roadway (the “Dirt Road”) running from the nearest public roadway – Old Cherry Hill Road. (R.p.110, line 23 – P.p.111, line 1; R.p.121, line 25 – R.p.122, line 13; R.p.129, lines 5-24). The Dirt Road, which has been in use for many, many decades (R.pp.341, 373-432), runs from Old Cherry Hill Road – across Parcel 001 in a northwesterly direction until it makes a right turn and heads north across Parcel 038, Parcel 039, Parcel 036, and onward. (R.p.129, lines 5-24; R.pp.341, 373-432).

1. Evolution of the Properties

In early colonial days, much of South Carolina was divided into baronies. (R.p.104, lines 10-15). The properties at issue originated from the approximately 12,000-acre Wadboo Barony originally given to Sir James Colleton in 1693. (R.p.104, lines 15-22; R.pp.346, 351).¹¹ In 1783, after the Revolutionary War ended, Wadboo Barony was broken into 28 lots and sold off at auction. (R.p.104, line 22 – R.p.105, line 1; R.pp.349, 351).¹² One of the sold lots – Lot 20 – purchased by William Logan and, together with Lot 19, became the 893.6-acre Broad Axe plantation. (R.pp.350-351). Elizabeth Holmes owned the property in 1815 (R.p.350), and in 1828, Dr. Henry Holmes sold Broad Axe

¹⁰ Parcels 035, 037, and 072 are all also landlocked. (R.p.256, line 23 – R.p.258, line 6).

¹¹ Sir James, for political reasons, fled to Barbados prior to the American Revolutionary War (R.p.104, lines 19-24) and the American colonists seized Wadboo Barony. See Wadboo Barony – Avenue of the Cedars – Before The Battle (*Wadboo Barony Battle Facts and Summary* | *American Battlefield Trust* (battlefields.org)). See also The Historical Marker Database (*Wadboo Barony Historical Marker* (hmdb.org)).

¹² (R.pp.348-349, 351). See also Wadboo Barony – Avenue of the Cedars – Aftermath (*Wadboo Barony Battle Facts and Summary* | *American Battlefield Trust* (battlefields.org)) (Following the war, the [12,000] acre property was seized by South Carolina, subdivided, and redistributed to compensate payment to soldiers of the war.”).

plantation to William Meree. (R.p.106, lines 8-13; R.pp.350, 354, 356-357). William Meree then willed the property to his son Thomas Meree (R.p.360), who later left the land to his son - Paul Durant Meree, Esquire (“Attorney Meree” or “P.D. Meree”), a Berkeley County attorney. Parcel 001, Parcel 038, and Parcel 039 were all previously part of Attorney Meree’s property.¹³

2. Parcel 038’s Chain Of Title

In 1882, Attorney Meree subdivided the property into 12 separate parcels as shown on a plat (the “1882 Subdivision Plat”) prepared by surveyor E. J. Dennis.¹⁴ (R.pp.366-368). Access to Parcel 038, was solely over and across the Dirt Road located on Parcel 001, as shown on the 1882 Subdivision Plat which Attorney Meree referenced in each of his eleven subsequently executed deeds.¹⁵ Had Attorney Meree not required the surveyor, E.J. Dennis, a county surveyor, to include a road on the 1882 Subdivision Plat, all of the various parcels located west of the Broad Axe Creek, except Parcel 001, would have been 100% landlocked. (R.p.111, line 10 – R.p.114, line 10; R.pp.553-554).

¹³ The properties were in Charleston County when the 1882 transactions ensued. (R.p.106, lines 2-6). Berkeley County was dissolved in 1865 and not reestablished until late 1882. *See South Carolina Encyclopedia, Berkeley County (Berkeley County | South Carolina Encyclopedia (scencyclopedia.org))*.

¹⁴ Even though Attorney Meree repeatedly referenced the 1882 Subdivision Plat in each of the 12 deeds he later executed, the actual 1882 Subdivision Plat was missing from the public records. (R.p.111, line 16 – R.p.112, line 1). Nevertheless, as evidence of Attorney Meree’s consistency, he subdivided another property - also surveyed by E. J. Dennis. (R.p.112, line 1 – R.p.113, line 18; R.pp.553-554). This other recorded plat, found in the public records, showed that Attorney Meree uniformly provided access and egress roads for each of the subdivided parcels. (R.p.112, line 1 – R.p.113, line 18; R.pp.553-554).

¹⁵ Stains on the Nero Smalls’ recorded deed show where a plat, referenced in subsequent documents related to this property, likely was located. (R.pp.492-494). The 1882 Subdivision Plat likely was lost when the deed book was rebound, or deteriorated over time, or simply was misplaced. Attorney Meree recoded a plat in the same deed book just prior to Nero Smalls’ deed in the same (a) exact manner, (b) year, and (c) surveyor. While the deed did not reserve an easement, the plat showed a road to the otherwise landlocked parcel. (R.p.103, lines 19-25; R.pp.553-554).

On 29 February 1884, in his seventh sale, Attorney Meree sold a 29-acre tract to Jupiter Tate. (R.p.106, line 22 – R.p.117, line 2; R.pp.457-459). When Attorney Meree sold Jupiter Tate his tract, the only access to what is now Parcels 038 and 039 was over the Dirt Road located on Parcel 001. Jupiter Tate later willed his 29 acres to his daughter, Hester Fashion (R.p.117, lines 3-8; R.p.460), who, on 8 August 1905, sold the property to J. W. Thornley. (R.p.117, lines 3-8; R.p.461-462). J. W. Thornley then bequeathed the property to his son - Andrew Thornley – on 7 October 1936 (R.p.117, lines 9-11; R.pp.463-465), who then transferred the property to his sister - Minnie Shay Stell - on 28 May 28, 1941. (R.p.117, lines 9-13; R.pp.466-467). Ms. Stell later subdivided the 29 acres by transferring five or so acres to her sister - Lottie Taucer – on 29 January 1954. (R.p.117, lines 12-15; R.pp.468-471). Minnie Shay Stell expressly granted an easement over both her land and over Parcel 001, as well as reserving the right to use any rights-of-way established by Lottie Taucer across Ms. Taucer's property. (R.p.117, line 18 – R.p.118, line 5; R.p.119, line 3 – R.p.120, line 2; R.p.120, line 18 – R.p.121, line 5; R.pp.463-467). Ms. Stell effectively claimed a right to use the Dirt Road over Parcel 001. (R.p.122, lines 1-13; R.pp.463-467).¹⁶

On 24 September 1958, Minnie Shay Stell further subdivided her remaining 24 or so acres by transferring approximately 22 acres to Ms. Taucer which became Parcel 038 and five or so acres to her nephew - Freddie Parker - which tract is now TMS No. 123-00-02-037 ("Parcel 037"). (R.p.117, lines 12-17; R.pp.463-467). Parcels 038 and 039 later became the property of the Heirs of Lottie Taucer and remained in the Taucer family

¹⁶ Furthermore, a road does appear even earlier on the 1828 Plat prepared for Dr. Henry M. Holmes in the very same location of the current Dirt Road. (R.p.359).

for 110 years from 1905 until 2015. (R.p.259, line 19 – R.p.260, line 1; R.pp.468-471). The Dirt Road crossing Parcel 001 provided the only access from Old Cherry Hill Road - a public road – to (a) BCE 2015's Parcel 039 and (b) the Landowners' Parcels 034 and 036.¹⁷

3. Parcel 001's Chain Of Title

Much as did Parcel 038, Parcel 001 also evolved from Attorney Meree's 1882 subdivision of the 408-acre tract into 12 separate parcels. (R.pp.366-368). Attorney Meree sold the first subdivided 30-acre tract to Nero Smalls on 16 February 1882. (R.p.115, lines 14-24; R.p.259, lines 19-23; R.pp.366, 369, 492).¹⁸ This initial property transfer - for what is now Parcel 001 - necessarily required the accompanying *1882 Subdivision Plat* to show the existence of the present-day Dirt Road for ingress and egress, otherwise all of the other subsequent property transfers would have been for totally landlocked properties. (R.p.113, line 19 – R.p.114, line 16; R.p.162, line 12 – R.p.163, line 12). Access to Parcel 038, as well as to Parcel 034 and Parcel 036, was, both then and now, solely over the Dirt Road located on Parcel 001, as shown on the *1882 Subdivision Plat* which Attorney Meree referenced in each of his subsequently executed deeds.¹⁹

¹⁷ The Dirt Road is also the only access to TMS No. 123-00-02-035 ("Parcel 035"), TMS No. 123-00-02-037 ("Parcel 037") and TMS No. 123-00-02-075 ("Parcel 075") all owned by third parties not involved in this litigation.

¹⁸ Nero Smalls was the Landowners' great-great-grandfather (R.p.116, lines 19-21; R.p.259, lines 16-18; R.p.271, lines 15-19) and the admitted original owner of Parcel 001. (R.p.259, lines 19-21).

¹⁹ As noted, the *1882 Subdivision Plat* was missing from the public records. (R.p.111, line 16 – R.p.112, line 1). Stains on the Nero Smalls' recorded deed show where a plat, referenced in subsequent documents pertaining to this property, likely was located. (R.pp.492-494). The *1882 Subdivision Plat* likely was lost when the deed book was rebound, or deteriorated over time, or simply was misplaced at some point in the past. Attorney Meree did record a plat bound in the deed book

On 19 January 1911, Nero Smalls sold his 30 acres to Seligh Behrman. (R.p.115, line 24-25; R.p.270, line 22 – R.p.271, line 6; R.pp.493-494). Mr. Berman passed and the property went to his heir – J. Russell Williams, Jr. - on 9 July 1942. (R.p.115, line 24 – R.p.116, line 1; R.p.271, lines 19-23; R.p.497). Mr. Williams, on 20 October 1942, then sold the property to Eddie Cooper (R.p.116, lines 1-2; R.p.271, line 19 – R.p.272, line 6; R.p.498), the Landowners' grandfather. (R.p.259, lines 11-15; R.p.271, lines 7-18). During the same time period, Henry Cooper deeded Eddie Cooper other property which is now part of Parcel 001. (R.p.116, lines 3-18; R.pp.343, 495-496). Eddie Cooper retained both properties until 27 April 1993, when he transferred them to the Landowners' father – Eddie Cooper, Jr. (R.p.247, line 22 – R.p.248, line 1; R.p.259, lines 11-15; R.pp.500-504). The younger Mr. Cooper died on 28 October 2008, and other tracts, including Parcel 001 (R.pp.505-510), passed to the Landowners. (R.p.259, lines 9-15; R.p.262, lines 3-6; R.pp.505-522).

4. Access Via The Dirt Road

The Dirt Road has been in existence for decades and has been used for well over 20 years to facilitate harvesting timber, farming, and hunting by Parcel 038's and Parcel 39's prior owners, as well as by the Landowners for Parcel 036 and Parcel 034. (R.p.122, line 24 – R.p.130, line 20; R.p.131, line 17 – R.p.146, line 25; R.p.148, line 2 – R.p.149, line 25; R.p.194, lines 10-20; R.p.244, lines 8-17; R.p.262, line 3 – R.p.262, line 6; R.pp.373-432).²⁰ The Dirt Road is the sole reasonable means of vehicular access from

just prior to Nero Smalls' deed in the same exact manner, in the same year, and by the same surveyor. While the did not reserve an easement, the plat showed a road to the parcel which would have otherwise been landlocked. (R.p.103, lines 19-25; R.pp.553-554).

²⁰ The Dirt Road actually services some 14 properties, including the ones owned by BCE 2015 and the Landowners. (R.p.163, lines 3 – 12).

those several properties to and from Old Cherry Hill Road. (R.p.129, lines 5-24; R.pp.373-432). The Dirt Road has been in existence since approximately 1820 (R.p.162, lines 12-20) as shown on various plats. (R.p.162, line 21 – R.p.173, line 2; R.pp.359, 362-365). The Landowners admitted the Dirt Road has been there for more than 50 years (R.p.252, line 7 – R.p.253, line 12; R.p.282, lines 19-22) and had been periodically improved. (R.p.253, line 13 – R.p.254, line 8).

The Landowners have used the Dirt Road to harvest timber from Parcel 001, Parcel 034, and Parcel 036 since at least the 1990s, crossing over Parcel 038 and Parcel 039 in the process. (R.p.122, line 24 – R.p.130, line 20; R.p.131, line 17 – R.p.146, line 25; R.p.148, line 2 – R.p.149, line 25; R.p.151, line 8 – R.p.152, line 3; R.p.254, line 5-8; R.pp.373-432). The Dirt Road was also utilized for access and harvesting timber by the Landowners' predecessors-in-title to Parcel 036 and Parcel 034 for over 20 years including, but not limited to, Edward Cooper, Jr. and Eddie Cooper. (R.p.244, lines 8-17; R.p.251, lines 8-14). BEC 2015's predecessor-in-title - Lottie Taucer – used the Dirt Road for 20 years ago for farming and to harvest timber. (R.p.244, lines 8-17). Hunters who lease Parcels 034 and Parcel 036 from the Landowners use the Dirt Road, crossing over Parcel 038, Parcel 039, and Parcel 035 to access Parcel 034. (R.p.193, lines 13-23; R.p.194, lines 10-20; R.p.249, lines 11-22; R.p.252, line 20 – R.p.253, line 2; R.p.254, line 11 – R.p.255, line 8; R.p.261, line 8 – R.p.262, line 25; R.p.282, line 23 – R.p.283, line 14).

Ariel imagery from 1954 onward showed the Dirt Road's continued use across Parcel 001, Parcel 034, Parcel 038, Parcel 039 consistent with agricultural and timber operations. (R.p.220, lines 1-5; R.pp.373-432). The *LIDAR* imagery of the various

parcels illustrated the Dirt Road was depressional (*i.e.*; the roadbed was physically depressed below the level of the grade of the surrounding land) (R.pp.447-450) – indicative of long-term, repetitive vehicular use. (R.p.160, line 20 – R.p.161, line 72).

Additionally, the Dirt Road's current position on Parcel 001 is the only practical location, given the area's topography and the existing area's wetlands. Notwithstanding the Landowners' suggested other access points (R.p.197, line 12 – R.p.200, line 12; R.p.265, line 17 – R.p.266, line 19, R.p.272, line 20 – R.p.273, line 24; R.p.279, lines 5-20), those areas were, at best, unreasonable. Given the scope and magnitude of constructing a proper roadway through the offered areas, the majority of which were wetlands, the project was estimated to cost in excess of \$400,000.00. (R.p.239, line 4 – R.p.244, line 7). That amount did not include the cost of the required federal and/or state wetland remediation and/or mitigation efforts. (R.p.244, lines 8-25).²¹ Furthermore, this presumed the relevant governmental authorities would agree to issue the myriad of required permits. (R.p.197, line 12 – R.p.198, line 8; R.p.223, lines 19-25). In any case, Dan Scheffing stated to construct such a new road, considering the existence of the well-situated Dirt Road (R.p.224, lines 1-7), would be environmentally irresponsible. (R.p.222, lines 9-25; R.p.224, lines 1-3).

²¹ See *e.g.*; S.C. Dept. of Health & Environmental Control Wetlands Mitigation Guidelines (Mitigation_Guidelines.pdf (scdhec.gov)). See also U.S. Army Corps of Engineers – Charleston District Compensatory Mitigation (Charleston District Regulatory Program – Compensatory Mitigation (army.mil)).

IV. ARGUMENT AND CITATION OF AUTHORITY

Standard Of Review

“The determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action and subject to an any evidence standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury.”²² “If the action is viewed as interpreting a deed, it is an equitable matter and the appellate court may review the evidence to determine the facts in accordance with the court's view of the preponderance of the evidence.”²³ “The interpretation of a deed is an equitable matter.”²⁴ “ ‘In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.’ ”²⁵

A. BCE 2015, LLC WAS ENTITLED TO AN EASEMENT BY NECESSITY OVER THE DIRT ROAD CROSSING PARCEL 001 AS PARCELS 038 AND 039 WERE ADMITTEDLY LANDLOCKED

Undeniably both Parcel 038 and Parcel 039 are landlocked. (R.p.103, line 19 – R.p.104, line 3; R.p.255, lines 9-23; R.p.341). Although disputed (R.pp.12-13), the evidence BCE 2015 presented demonstrated the Dirt Road was the most practical and most reasonable means for BCE 2015 to access its property at Parcel 038 and Parcel 039. (R.p.97, line 12 – R.p.200, line 13; R.p.214, line 16 – R.p.215, line 20; R.p.220, line

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