STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE
COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
JAN 08 2024
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from the Court of Common Pleas
For Berkeley County
Honorable Dale E. Van Slambrook, Master-In-Equity
Civil Action No.: 2018-CP-08-344
Appellate Case No.: 2023-000405

BEC 2015, LLC

Appellant,

v.

**YVONNE C. KNIGHT and
ELEANOR C. BROWN.**

Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS,
YVONNE C. KNIGHT and ELEANOR C. BROWN**

H. Ronald Stanley, Esquire (SC Bar #: 5304)
THE STANLEY LAW GROUP, P.A.
1418 Park Street
Post Office Box 7722
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
Telephone: (803) 799-4700
Telecopier: (803) 799-3036
Email: hrstanley@stanleylawsc.com
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Master-In-Equity incorrectly concluded that BCE 2015, LLC failed to demonstrate that BCE 2015, LLC was entitled to an implied easement by necessity across the Respondents' property?
- II. Whether the Master-In-Equity incorrectly concluded that BCE, LLC failed to demonstrate that BCE 2015, LLC was entitled to an easement by prior use across the Respondents' property?
- III. Whether the Master-In-Equity incorrectly concluded that BCE 2015, LLC failed to demonstrate that BCE 2015, LLC was entitled to an easement by prescription across the Respondents' property?
- IV. Whether the Master-In-Equity incorrectly denied admission of photographs taken by the appellant after the close of testimony and evidence and after the trial had ended.
- V. Whether the Master-In-Equity incorrectly denied BCE 2015, LLC's Post-Trial Motion made pursuant to Rule 52(b) and 59(e), SCRCivP?

I. **THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EASEMENT BY NECESSITY OVER AND THROUGH RESPONDENTS' PROPERTY.**

In the complaint commencing this action, the appellant alleged that it had no access to its property except over and through an unimproved dirt road running through the property owned by the respondents. The appellant further alleged that it was entitled to a judicial declaration granting it a fifty (50') foot easement for ingress and egress. The appellant did not plead, allege, or assert in its complaint the legal principle or theory under which it was entitled to an easement over and through the respondents' property.

After the trial of this case, the Master-In-Equity concluded, based upon the testimony of appellant's managing member, Jason Maxwell, that appellant's claim for entitlement to an easement was based upon the law of implied easement by prior use and upon appellant's claim to a prescriptive easement.

In the initial order issued by the Master-In-Equity on October 31, 2022, the master found and concluded that the appellant was not entitled to a fifty (50') foot ingress and egress easement over and through respondents' property based upon the law of implied easement by prior use or based upon appellant's claim to a prescriptive easement. In the initial order, the Master-In-Equity did not address whether the appellant

was entitled to an easement by necessity.

After the initial order was issued by the Master-In-Equity, the appellant filed a motion for reconsideration which included a request that the Master-In-Equity find that the appellant was entitled to an easement by necessity. At the hearing held by the Master-In-Equity on appellant's post-trial motions, the appellant called to the court's attention that there was testimony at trial by appellant's managing member, Jason Maxwell, which showed that appellant was also asserting entitlement to an easement by necessity. The appellant directed the court to the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat which had been entered into the record at trial as exhibit 23 as primary support for its claim to entitlement to an easement by necessity. The Master-In-Equity agreed that the testimony of Jason Maxwell did appear to assert entitlement to an easement by necessity and the court then gave due consideration to the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat (exhibit 23) that was being relied upon by appellant. The Master-In-Equity determined that this plat did not provide proof that appellant's property was without other reasonable means of ingress and egress at the time the property was severed which must be shown by a party claiming the right to an easement by necessity.

The Master-In-Equity issued an Amended Order on March 1, 2023 which addressed appellant's claim to entitlement to an easement by necessity and the master declared in the amended order that the appellant was not entitled to an easement by necessity due to appellant's failure to

prove that appellant's property was without other reasonable means of ingress and egress at the time of severance.

It is well settled under our law that a party asserting the right to an easement by necessity must show: (1) unity of title, (2) severance of title, and (3) necessity. ***Kennedy v. Bendenbaugh***, 352 S.C. 56, 572 S.E. 2d 452 (2002); ***Boyd v. Bellsouth***, 369 S.C. 410, 633 S.E. 2d 136 (S. Ct. 2006). While in the case at bar, the Master-In-Equity found that there was unity of title and severance of title, the court held that the third element which is necessity must be shown to exist at the time that the severance of title occurs. The Master-In-Equity found that the unity of title occurred when the appellant's property and the respondents' property were both part of a 300 acre tract of land owned by P. D. Meree, also known as Paul D. Meree. The Master-In-Equity found that on February 6, 1882, Paul D. Meree conveyed 30 acres out of the 300 acre tract of land to Nero Smalls which is the same property now owned by the respondents which is subject of this action. On February 29, 1884, P. D. Meree conveyed out of the 300 acre tract of land 29¾ acres to Jupiter Tate. The 22 acre tract of land that was purchased by the appellant at a Berkeley County tax sale on November 16, 2015, and which was conveyed to the appellant by the Berkeley County Treasurer on March 9, 2017, is a part of the 29¾ acres that was conveyed to Jupiter Tate on February 29, 1884. The Master-In-Equity found that the severance of the property now owned by the appellant and the property now owned by the respondents occurred on

February 6, 1882 when the 30 acre tract of land was conveyed to Nero Smalls.

In the case at bar, the court found that there was unity of title and severance of title but there was no evidence of necessity existing at the time of severance. It is undisputed under our law and by the parties in this case that the necessity element must be established by showing that the necessity existed at the time of severance. Clemson Univ. v. First Provident Corp., 260 S.C. 640, 197 S.E. 2d 914 (1973); Boyd v. Bellsouth, *supra*. It is clear that the burden of proof for showing that the necessity existed at the time of severance lies with the party claiming entitlement to the easement, which, in our case, is the appellant. There is no testimony in the record of this case from anyone, including prior owners, showing that the necessity existed at the time of severance on February 6, 1882. Inherent in proving the existence of necessity at the time of severance is the need for the appellant to show that there was no other reasonable means of ingress and egress at the time of severance. The appellant appears to attempt to shift this burden of proof to the respondents by arguing in its brief that the respondents have not shown that there was other reasonable means of ingress and egress for the appellant's property. This is not the respondents' burden. The burden of proof is on the appellant and the Master-In-Equity found that the appellant failed to provide sufficient proof as to the necessity element for establishing entitlement to an easement by necessity.

The appellant is relying upon the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat (Exhibit 23) to establish its claim that necessity existed at the time of severance and as proof that there was no other reasonable means of ingress and egress for appellant's property at the time of severance other than over and through the property now owned by the respondents. The Master-In-Equity did not find this plat to be supportive in establishing appellant's burden of proof of showing necessity at the time of severance and in showing that at the time of severance there was no other reasonable means of ingress and egress for appellant's property other than over and through respondent's property. It is unclear to the respondents as to exactly what the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat is intended to depict but it is clear that the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat was not a plat that was prepared at the request of, or for the use and benefit of, Paul D. Meree, the common grantor. There was no testimony from a surveyor or other expert witness clarifying or interpreting for the court the Tiverton Lawn Plantation Plat and how it impacts or is related to the property which is subject to our action.

II. **THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EASEMENT BY PRIOR USE OVER AND THROUGH RESPONDENTS' PROPERTY.**

A party claiming entitlement to an easement by prior use must establish the following elements: (1) unity of title; (2) severance of title; (3) the prior use was in existence at the time of unity of title; (4) the prior use was not merely temporary or casual; (5) the prior use was apparent or known to the parties; (6) the prior use was necessary in that there could be no other reasonable mode of enjoying the dominant tenement without the prior use; and (7) the common grantor indicated an intent to continue the prior use after severance of title.

The Master-In-Equity found that the appellant had established elements 1 and 2 but had failed to provide sufficient evidence or testimony to establish elements 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7.

As to element 3 which requires proof that the prior use was in existence at the time of unity of title, the court found that there was no testimony or evidence showing that the dirt road which now runs through the respondent's property was even in existence at the time of unity of title which, in this case, would be prior to February 6, 1882. The court also found that even if the dirt road existed prior to February 6, 1882, there was no evidence or testimony to show who, if anyone, was using the

unimproved dirt road prior to February 6, 1882 for ingress and egress to the property now owned by appellant. It is important to note that what must be shown by the appellant is not that the dirt road running across respondent's property was being used prior to the severance on February 6, 1882, but that the dirt road was being used for ingress and egress to the property now owned by appellant. Use of the dirt road for ingress and egress to appellant's property prior to February 6, 1882, has not be shown by appellant.

As to elements 4, 5, and 6, the appellant has no personal knowledge as to whether any prior use of the dirt road running through respondents' property was for ingress and egress to the property now owned by appellant. The appellant purchased its property at a Berkeley County Tax Sale on November 16, 2015 and obtained title to the said property on March 9, 2017. The appellant has no personal knowledge that any prior owners of the property now owned by appellant, were using the dirt road that runs across the respondents' property for ingress and egress to their property. Additionally, the appellant has no personal knowledge as to whether any prior use of the dirt road for ingress and egress by prior owners was not merely temporary or casual, whether the use was apparent or know to the parties and whether the use was necessary in that there could be no other reasonable mode of enjoying their property without the use of the dirt road. Since the appellant had no personal knowledge to provide the proof required by elements 4, 5 and 6,

it was incumbent upon the appellant to provide testimony from some of the prior owners of the property now owned by the appellant as to how they were gaining ingress and egress to and from their property. No such testimony was presented by the appellant.

The respondent, Eleanor Cooper Brown, testified that there is an iron gate in place on their property at the point where the dirt road that runs across their property intersects with Old Cherry Hill Road. She testified that this iron gate has been in place since 1995. She testified further that prior to the placement of the iron gate, there was a wooden gate which she believes was installed in or about 1950. She testified that the wooden and iron gates have been in place for 72 years to restrict access to the dirt road crossing their property. (TR. 278, lines 1-19.)

Element Number 7 requires proof that the common grantor indicated an intent to continue the prior use after severance of title. In the case at bar, the common grantor was Paul D. Meree. The appellant has failed to present any evidence or testimony that Paul D. Meree knew, stated or acknowledged that there was a dirt road running across the property now owned by the respondents that was providing ingress and egress to the property now owned by the appellant and that it was his intent that the dirt road would continue to provide ingress and egress after the severance of the property. There is no language or any reference of any kind in the deed from Paul D. Meree to Nero Smalls reserving an easement over or through the property now owned by the respondents.

Likewise, there is no language or any reference of any kind in the deed from P. D. Meree to Jupeter Tate granting to Mr. Tate an easement across or through the land conveyed by Paul D. Meree to Nero Smalls. The deed from P. D. Meree to Jupeter Tate does not even make reference to the subdivision plat mentioned by appellant in its brief which allegedly shows the dirt road running across the property of Nero Smalls. The land conveyed by P. D. Meree to Jupeter Tate is the property now owned by the appellant. The appellant has failed to provide any proof to satisfy element Number 7.

III. **THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN EASEMENT BY PRESCRIPTION ACROSS THE RESPONDENTS' PROPERTY.**

It is clear in South Carolina that a party claiming the right to a prescriptive easement must show (1) continued use for 20 years, (2) the identity of the thing enjoyed, and (3) the use is either adverse or under a claim of right. The burden of proof is on the party claiming the prescriptive easement. *Horry County v. Laychur*, 315 S.C. 364 (1993), *Boyd v. Bellsouth, Supra*; *Shia v. Pendergrass*, 222 S.C. 342 (1952). A prescriptive easement is not implied by law but is established by the conduct of the dominant tenement owner which in this case is the appellant.

In the case at bar, the appellant has only owned its property for 6 years and, therefore, cannot satisfy the 20 years continued use requirement through any alleged use on its part. Although, a party may "tack" the period of use of prior owners, the appellant has not provided any testimony from any prior owners showing that they used the dirt road across respondents' property for a period of time and that with the previous owners continuous use, there was 20 years of continued use to satisfy the first element for a prescriptive easement.

The appellant provided circumstantial evidence which it alleged showed continuous use of the dirt road over a number of years. This

evidence cannot be relied upon and has no probative value in this case because there is no identity as to who was using the road, exactly what period of time a particular person used the road and whether that person's use was adverse or under a claim of right as opposed to their use being permissive.

The evidence and testimony presented by the appellant falls well short of proving the three elements necessary for establishing entitlement to a prescriptive easement.

IV. THE MASTER-IN-EQUITY WAS CORRECT IN DENYING INTO EVIDENCE THE ADMISSION OF PHOTOGRAPHS TAKEN BY THE APPELLANT AFTER THE RECORD IN THIS CASE WAS CLOSED ON SEPTEMBER 15, 2022.

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